

Open Access Medisara Journal of Medical Sciences
 — Back to Submissions

Reviewer's Attachments

ID	File Name	Review Date
1143	1143-Reviewer's Attachment	February 18, 2022
1144	1144-Reviewer's Attachment	February 14, 2022
1145	1145-Reviewer's Attachment	February 18, 2022

Reviews

ID	File Name	Review Date	Review Status
1144	1144-Reviewer's Attachment	February 18, 2022	Review Completed
1145	1145-Reviewer's Attachment	February 14, 2022	Review Completed
1143	1143-Reviewer's Attachment	February 18, 2022	Review Completed

Review Discussions

ID	File Name	Review Date	Review Status
1143	1143-Reviewer's Attachment	February 18, 2022	Review Completed

1413
06/07/2022

Nutritional Intake Education By Peers, Nutritionists, And Combinations To Changes In Nutritional Status In Adolescent Girl In School

Comment [K1]: -
-please use and see the template
-use consistently word(teens, adolescents or youth, young women??
-

Abstract

Background: Adolescents pay such close attention to their physical shape and frequently construct their own body image. Low knowledge of nutrients will have an impact on attitudes and behavior related to nutritional status in adolescents. Nutrition education can also help youth gain adolescents' knowledge. Peers are believed to be very influential as educators, so, peer nutritional education in adolescents will be felt positively and have a very significant impact on nutritional status. **Aims:** This study aims to determine the effect of nutrition education conducted by peers, nutrition, and a combination on the nutritional status of adolescents. **Methods and Material:** This research used is a quasi-experimental design using a pretest-posttest control group design. The sample consisted of 120 students with an age range of 15–18 years, selected by random sampling. Nutrition education is provided by means of lectures and discussions by peers, nutritionists, or a combination of the two for 1 meeting a week. Statistical analysis used: This study will use the paired t test. **Results:** The findings revealed that nutrition education delivered by peers had a p value of 0.033 and nutrition education delivered by nutritionists had a p value of 0.003, but there was no significant effect on adolescent nutritional status when nutrition education was delivered in combination with a p value of 0.317. Nutrition education provided by peers is very useful for improving the nutritional status of adolescents. **Conclusions:** Nutritional education provided by peers is proven to be able to have a positive impact on adolescents because peers are the axis of youth association, so that what is shared and learned by peers will be more easily accepted.

Comment [K2]: when the research occurred?
please also mention location

Keywords: nutritional intake; nutritional education; peers; nutritional status; adolescent

Introduction

Adolescence is a period in a person's life when they pay close attention to their physical appearance. The fast physical growth and development, both in height and weight, that occurs during adolescence is accompanied by the development of reproductive potential. This is why teens pay such close attention to their physical shape and frequently construct their own body image. When compared to young men, young women are more likely to suffer from this ailment. According to Amaral e Melo, because of psychological, physiological, and social changes, the adolescent phase is sensitive to dietary disorders. Peer pressure is another element that leads to a distorted perception of body form in adolescent, which has an impact on eating habit aberrations[1]. Kurnianingsih's research in Nomate, Nur, & Toy showed that 33.2% of respondents revealed that they often received criticism about their weight from their peers[2]. Weight loss was also mostly done by respondents who received influence from peers, which was 49.1% compared to respondents who did not get influence from peers. At this age, there is a double nutritional problem: some of the teenagers are malnourished, but some of them are obese. Adolescents who experience a BMI of less than 18.5 in Indonesia are 8.7%, while those who are more than the normal limit are 16%. The tendency of this nutritional problem is different in each province. In East Java Province, adolescents who have a BMI greater than the normal limit are 19.3%. Almost one fifth of adolescents in East Java Province have a BMI that is higher than normal or are overweight and obese. Fulfillment of

Comment [K3]: please use another word

Formatted: Highlight

Formatted: Highlight

Comment [K4]: please use primary resources

Comment [K5]: resources??

nutrition during adolescence is important because adolescents are the future of the nation in the creation of a better future ~~generation~~[generation](#) [3].

In addition, adolescent nutritional status has a positive relationship with learning achievement[4]. **Young women's** efforts to reduce food intake in order to get the desired thin and slim body will ultimately have an impact on growth and development disorders because more than 20% of height and 50% of bone mass are achieved in adolescence. Adolescence is a vulnerable condition in the process of development and growth, so it can cause several health problems. Anemia is a health problem that is often experienced by **young women**. The incidence of anemia in Indonesia is still quite high, and the prevalence of adolescent girls who experience anemia in Indonesia reaches 22.7%. According to WHO, if the prevalence of anemia is in the range of 20%–39.9%, it can be said that it is a moderate public health problem[5].

Iron has a function in the formation of hemoglobin, minerals, and enzymes. Iron deficiency in adolescents can cause stunted physical growth, especially for adolescents who attend school. Anemia causes low concentration of thinking, learning disorders occur, and learning achievement decreases[6]. The results showed that the cause of anemia in adolescents was due to irregular eating patterns, not eating protein foods, not liking vegetables, and eating fast food and junk food[7]. In reality, teenagers tend to like junk food and fast food, consuming certain foods so that their bodies do not get a varied nutritional intake. This is what triggers a decrease in red blood cell production, making it easy for anemia to occur[8].

Lack of iron intake in adolescents can be caused by a lack of knowledge of adolescents about food sources of iron and the role of iron in adolescents. Low knowledge of nutrients will have an impact on attitudes and behavior related to iron nutrition in adolescents. Nutrition education can also help youth gain the knowledge and skills they need to make healthy food choices and develop healthy eating patterns for life. Peers are believed to be very influential in the lives of adolescents because peer groups provide a source of independence, identity, recognition, and group membership[9], so that the peer educator approach is expected to convey iron nutrition information and change attitudes and behaviors of their peers to become healthier[10]. Schools are ideal places for nutrition education as they reach a large proportion of young people. [In accordance with Beydoun and Wang's statement, in the research of Acharya, Rana, Pun, & Thapa,](#) nutrition education in adolescents will be felt positively and has a very significant impact on nutritional behavior, so nutrition education conducted by peers is important[11].

[what is the gap from this research location?](#)

Methods

The type of research used is a quasi-experimental design using a pretest-posttest control group design. The population of this study were all students of the 19th Senior High School in Surabaya with criteria of age 15–18 years and willing to be participants. Samples will be taken randomly and divided into three intervention groups (Peer Group, Nutritionist Group, and Combination Group) and one control group. Each group will consist of 30 participants, so the total number of participants in this study ~~is were~~ [20].

The research instruments are: 1) [Education is obtained by using a questionnaire to determine the level of knowledge of each participant.](#) 2) A guidebook based on literature and focus group discussions with experts 3) 1x24-hour Food Recall Sheet and [FFQ](#) 4) The nutritional status variable was obtained from the [BMI/U assessment](#) with a z-score >1 SD to 2 SD.

Comment [K6]: what is the gap of this research ?
the background slightly confusing.--please see the main title.

Formatted: Highlight

Formatted: Highlight

Comment [K7]: please use primary resources

Comment [K8]: when this research occurred

Comment [K9]: the istruments that 's used already patent---or researcher modify the questioner?

Comment [K10]: abbreviation for....

Comment [K11]: ??

Initial data collection will begin by dividing the groups into 4 groups, namely the Peer Group, Nutritionist Group, Combination Group, and Control Group, and each group has 30 participants. All groups will then perform a pretest, such as answering the questionnaire and measuring BMI. After all groups have taken the pretest, the peer group, nutritionist group, and combination group will receive treatment in the form of a lecture session followed by a discussion. In the peer group, a selected student will be the resource person. This selected student was previously provided with nutrition knowledge by nutritionists. In the nutritionist group, a nutritionist will be the resource person. In the combination group, the previously selected student and the nutritionist will alternately become resource people. Meanwhile, the control group did not receive any treatment. After all groups received treatment, it was time for all groups to do the posttest by answering the questionnaire. Statistical analysis used: This study will use the paired t test

Comment [K12]: this research occurred for how many month??.to see the the changes of BMI

Results

Comment [K13]: the result of knowledge ??
Questionnaire??

Table 1. Frequency Distribution of Nutritional Status Treatment Groups' Pretest and Posttest

Education	Before			After		
	Thin	Normal	Fat	Thin	Normal	Fat
Peer	7	19	4	14	13	3
Nutritionist	4	21	5	11	16	3
Control	4	23	3	5	21	4
Combination	12	16	2	9	19	2
Total	27	79	14	39	69	12
	120			120		

Based on the table 1, it can be seen that during the pretest, as many as 79 students were in the normal category. Meanwhile, in the post-test, 69 students were in the normal category.

Table 2. The wilcoxon signed rank test, which was used to examine differences in nutritional status and nutritional intake before and after education

Variable	p value
Nutritional Status	0.016
Nutritional Intake	0.088

Based on the table 2, the calculation results show a value of 0.016 ($p < 0.05$) which means that there is a significant difference in adolescent nutritional status between before and after education. As for nutritional intake, it shows that there is no significant difference between before and after education.

Table 3. the Wilcoxon signed rank test, which was used to examine the effect of nutritional status before and after education.

Group	p value
Peers	0.033
Nutritionist	0.003

Control	1000
Combination	0.317

Comment [K14]: ?

Based on table 3, the calculation results show a value of 0.033 ($p < 0.05$) in the peer group and a value of 0.003 ($p < 0.05$) in the nutritionist group. This concludes that nutritional status experienced significant differences in the peer group and nutritionist before and after education. Furthermore, there was no significant effect in the control and combination groups.

Table 4. Differences in nutritional status of each group after education

Group	N	Mean Rank	P
Peers	30	50.53	0.039
Nutritionist	30	55.58	
Control	30	63.37	
Combination	30	72.52	

In table 4, it is known that the value is 0.039 ($p < 0.05$) which means that the treatment group is iron intake education. At the time of the posttest, the nutritional status values between groups had differences. If we look more deeply, the combination education group has a different nutritional status between each group, which is then followed by the nutritionist group and the peer group.

Formatted: Highlight

Discussion

Comment [K15]: intervention : offline or online???

Nutrition education can significantly improve nutritional status[12]. This begins with increasing nutritional knowledge so that adolescents can choose healthy foods that will improve their nutritional status. One way to increase adolescent knowledge is by providing education or counseling about balanced nutrition. Several studies have concluded that counseling is effective in increasing adolescent knowledge about balanced nutrition[13,14,15].

In the beginning, nutrition education was able to improve nutritional status. The speaker was also one of the factors that could affect the success of nutrition education, one of which was peers. Based on the results above, it can be explained that the education that has the most influence on changes in nutritional status is that conducted by peers and nutritionists. Comprehensive nutrition education also empowers youth's knowledge and skills in making healthy food and beverage choices.

Comment [K16]: you mean, facilitators?

Education conducted by peers is considered the most effective in changing nutritional status. Knowledge can form a supportive attitude and will affect the motivation of adolescents to behave in a healthy manner. Knowledge can be increased by a group learning process with a peer group[16]. This peer counselor has great potential because of the tendency for adolescents to choose their peers as a place for discussion and information reference. One of the efforts made through peer counselors is to share nutritional knowledge, which is an expression of a state of balance between consumption and absorption of nutrients and the use of these nutrients[17].

Comment [K17]: please provide more information about students knowledge --- because, int the result you didn't write about knowledge, despite of action.

Behavior consist on tree domain: knowledge, attitude and action.

The peer education method is effective in promoting healthy behavior in groups because adolescents are more receptive to behavioral examples from their peers. This is in line with research conducted by Astika & Permatasari, that showed peer groups are effective

in giving a large influence to the group in knowledge of balanced nutrition[18]. According to Story et al., nutrition education through peers has a higher level of acceptance[9]. This is because peers become the main focus in adolescents, so peer education is like having "peer pressure" in a positive and constructive way. Research by Dargie, Henry, Hailemariam, & Geda, states that well-designed peer education can have an impact on increasing food intake for each individual[19].

In addition to peer education, nutritionist education also helps improve the nutritional status of adolescents. In the nutritionist education group, the students received knowledge about iron intake from experts. This is also in line with research conducted by Pakhri et al., which shows that education carried out provides understanding for students so that they experience changes and increase knowledge in individuals as well as in groups[8]. Students understand the portion of food that teenagers need according to the RDA, as well as proper eating patterns that affect the growth of teenagers.

Research conducted by Raikar et al., also revealed that nutrition education provided by experts using flipchart media can help increase nutritional knowledge. With nutrition education methods provided by experts, teenagers can understand and choose healthy foods for their health now and in the long term[20].

In this study, it was found that the combination method also contributed to the increase in nutritional status. The combination method has been used several times in nutrition education. The study by Rodríguez, evaluated previous research that used a combination method with internet media. A method that brings together peers and nutritionists to discuss nutrition. It was found that the research using the combination method did not have a significant effect on nutritional knowledge. However, this can still be used as a method of providing nutrition education while still considering the duration of a program and session[21].

The findings of this study corroborate that small informal nutritional education sessions can play a role in increasing the knowledge of adolescent, which in turn will help the health system prevent nutritional deficiencies and disorders. Nutritional education provided by peers is proven to be able to have a positive impact on adolescents because peers are the axis of youth association, so that what is shared and learned by peers will be more easily accepted. This study also gives hope that such sessions on a larger scale involving several small groups can help increase basic knowledge related to nutrition in large groups of adolescents.

Comment [K18]: ??

Conclusion

Nutritional education provided by peers is proven to be able to have a positive impact on adolescents because peers are the axis of youth association, so that what is shared and learned by peers will be more easily accepted.

Ethical considerations:

Ethical issues (Including plagiarism, informed consent, misconduct, data fabrication and/or falsification, double publication and/or submission, redundancy, etc.) have been completely observed by the authors.

Acknowledgements :

.

Declaration of competing interest

The authors declare that they have no known competing financial interests or personal relationships.

Data availability

Data and any supplementary material related to this article can be obtained from the corresponding author on request.

References

1. Rhaisa Do Amaral E Melo G, De Carvalho Silva Vargas F, Martins Dos Santos Chagas C, Toral N. Nutritional interventions for adolescents using information and communication technologies (ICTs): A systematic review. *PLoS One*. 2017;12(9):1–12.
2. Nomate ES, Nur ML, Toy SM. Hubungan Teman Sebaya, Citra Tubuh Dan Pola Konsumsi Dengan Status Gizi Remaja Putri. *Unnes J Public Heal*. 2017;6(3):141.
3. Adriani M, Wiratjamadi B. Pengantar Gizi Masyarakat. Jakarta: Kencana Prenada Media Group; 2012.
4. Maryam S, Gani FA. Analisis Hubungan Status Gizi Dengan Prestasi Belajar Remaja Putri Pada Sma Negeri 1 Kabupaten Bireuen Staf Pengajar Fakultas Kedokteran Universitas Malikussaleh Email : sitimaryam_ipb@yahoo.com Staf Pengajar Fakultas Ked. *J Edukasi dan Sains Biol*. 2015;IV(1):37–40.
5. McLean E, Cogswell M, Egli I, Wojdyla D, De Benoist B. Worldwide prevalence of anaemia, WHO Vitamin and Mineral Nutrition Information System, 1993-2005. *Public Health Nutr*. 2009;12(4):444–54.
6. Lestari S, Fujiati II, Martina SJ, Sari DK, Panjaitan SAA, Nasution NH. A Study of Anemia Prevalence and Dietary Habits among Adolescent Girls in Rural and Urban Area in North Sumatera, Indonesia. 2020;(5):652–6.
7. Chaturvedi D, Chaudhuri PK, Priyanka ., Chaudhary AK. Study of correlation between dietary habits and anemia among adolescent girls in Ranchi and its surrounding area. *Int J Contemp Pediatr*. 2017;4(4):1165.
8. Pakhri A, Sukmawati S, Nurhasanah N. Pengaruh Edukasi Gizi Terhadap Pengetahuan Gizi Dan Asupan Energi, Protein Dan Besi Pada Remaja. *Media Kesehat Politek Kesehat Makassar*. 2018;13(1):39.
9. Story M, Lytle L a, Birnbaum AS, Perry CL. Feasibility and Process Evaluation of the TEENS Study. *J Sch Health*. 2002;72:121–7.
10. Jafar N, Indriasari R, Syam A, Kurniati Y. Pengaruh Pelatihan Edukator Sebaya terhadap Pengetahuan tentang Gizi Seimbang pada Siswa di SMUN 16 Makassar. *Media Gizi Pangan*. 2018;25(1):1.
11. Acharya A, Rana PP, Pun BK, Thapa B. Consumption of iron-rich foods among adolescent girls in Nepal: identifying behavioural determinants. *F Exch - Emerg Nutr Netw ENN* [Internet]. 2018;(57):17–9. Available from: <https://www.ennonline.net/fex/57/ironadolescentgirlsnepal>
12. Abdur Razzak M, Mahfuz Al Hasan S, Shahinur Rahman S, Asaduzzaman M, Matin Juliana F, Sabir Hossain M. Role of nutrition education in improving the nutritional status of adolescent girls in North West areas of Bangladesh. 2016;(August 2017).
13. Ningsih THS. Pengaruh Edukasi Pedoman Gizi Seimbang Terhadap Pengetahuan Dan Sikap Remaja Putri Kurus. *J Midwifery Sci*. 2018;2(2):10.
14. Safitri, Maharani S. Hubungan Pengetahuan Gizi Terhadap Kejadian Anemia pada Remaja Putri di SMP Negeri 13 Kota Jambi. *J Akad Baiturrahim Jambi*. 2019;8(2):261–6.
15. Najahah I. Pengaruh Penyuluhan Gizi Seimbang Pada Remaja Putri Terhadap Tingkat Pengetahuan Remaja Putri Di Pondok Pesantren Islam Nw Penimbung. *Media Bina Ilm*. 2018;12(10).
16. Aisah S, Sahar J, Hastono sutanto priyo. Pengaruh Edukasi Kelompok Sebaya

terhadap Perubahan Perilaku Pencegahan Anemia Gizi Besi pada Wanita Usia Subur di Kota Semarang. Pros Semin Nas [Internet]. 2010;119–27. Available from: <http://jurnal.unimus.ac.id>

17. Supriasa IDN. *Penilaian Status Gizi*. Jakarta: EGC; 2016.
18. Astika T, Permatasari E. Peningkatan Pengetahuan dan Perilaku Gizi Seimbang menggunakan Metode Peer Education. *Kes Mas J Fak Kesehat Masy*. 2017;11(2):114–20.
19. Dargie F, Henry CJ, Hailemariam H, Geda NR. A Peer-Led Pulse-based Nutrition Education Intervention Improved School-Aged Children’s Knowledge, Attitude, Practice (KAP) and Nutritional Status in Southern Ethiopia. *J Food Res*. 2018;7(3):38.
20. Raikar K, Thakur A, Mangal A, Vaghela JF, Banerjee S, Gupta V. A study to assess the effectiveness of a nutrition education session using flipchart among school-going adolescent girls. 2020;9:1–7.
21. Domínguez Rodríguez A, Cebolla Marti AJ, Oliver-Gasch E, Baños-Rivera RM. Online platforms to teach Nutrition Education to children: a non-systematic review. *Nutr Hosp*. 2016;33(6):1444–51.

Nutritional Intake Education By Peers, Nutritionists, And Combinations To Changes In Nutritional Status In Adolescent Girl In School

Irine Christiany^{1*}, Adin Mu'afiro¹, Kiaonarni Ongko Waluyo¹, Suparji, Suparji²

¹Lecturer Department of Nursing, Politeknik Kesehatan Kementerian Kesehatan Surabaya, Indonesia.

²Lecturer Department of Midwifery, Politeknik Kesehatan Kementerian Kesehatan Surabaya, Indonesia

*Correspondence: **Irine Christiany^{1*}**, Department of Nursing, Politeknik Kesehatan Kementerian Kesehatan Surabaya, Indonesia, Email: irinesby64@gmail.com

Abstract

Background: Adolescents pay such close attention to their physical shape and frequently construct their own body image. Low knowledge of nutrients will have an impact on attitudes and behavior related to nutritional status in adolescents. Nutrition education can also help youth gain adolescents' knowledge. Peers are believed to be very influential as educators, so, peer nutritional education in adolescents will be felt positively and have a very significant impact on nutritional status. **Aims:** This study aims to determine the effect of nutrition education conducted by peers, nutritionists, and a combination on the nutritional status of adolescents. **Methods and Material:** This research used is a quasi-experimental design using a pretest-posttest control group design. The sample consisted of 120 students with an age range of 15–18 years, selected by random sampling. Nutrition education is provided by means of lectures and discussions by peers, nutritionists, or a combination of the two for 1 meeting a week. Statistical analysis used: This study will use the paired t test. **Results:** The findings revealed that nutrition education delivered by peers had a p value of 0.033 and nutrition education delivered by nutritionists had a p value of 0.003, but there was no significant effect on adolescent nutritional status when nutrition education was delivered in combination with a p value of 0.317. Nutrition education provided by peers is very useful for improving the nutritional status of adolescents. **Conclusions:** Nutritional education provided by peers is proven to be able to have a positive impact on adolescents because peers are the axis of youth association, so that what is shared and learned by peers will be more easily accepted.

Keywords: nutritional intake; nutritional education; peers; nutritional status; adolescent

Introduction

Adolescence is a period in a person's life when they pay close attention to their physical appearance. The fast physical growth and development, both in height and weight, that occurs during adolescence is accompanied by the development of reproductive potential. This is why teens pay such close attention to their physical shape and frequently construct their own body image. When compared to young men, young women are more likely to suffer from this ailment. According to Amaral e Melo, because of psychological, physiological, and social changes, the adolescent phase is sensitive to dietary disorders. Peer pressure is another

element that leads to a distorted perception of body form in adolescent, which has an impact on eating habit aberrations[1]. Kurnianingsih's research in Nomate, Nur, & Toy showed that 33.2% of respondents revealed that they often received criticism about their weight from their peers[2]. Weight loss was also mostly done by respondents who received influence from peers, which was 49.1% compared to respondents who did not get influence from peers. At this age, there is a double nutritional problem: some of the teenagers are malnourished, but some of them are obese. Adolescents who experience a BMI of less than 18.5 in Indonesia are 8.7%, while those who are more than the normal limit are 16%. The tendency of this nutritional problem is different in each province. In East Java Province, adolescents who have a BMI greater than the normal limit are 19.3%. Almost one fifth of adolescents in East Java Province have a BMI that is higher than normal or are overweight and obese. Fulfillment of nutrition during adolescence is important because adolescents are the future of the nation in the creation of a better future generation[3].

In addition, adolescent nutritional status has a positive relationship with learning achievement[4]. Young women's efforts to reduce food intake in order to get the desired thin and slim body will ultimately have an impact on growth and development disorders because more than 20% of height and 50% of bone mass are achieved in adolescence. Adolescence is a vulnerable condition in the process of development and growth, so it can cause several health problems. Anemia is a health problem that is often experienced by young women. The incidence of anemia in Indonesia is still quite high, and the prevalence of adolescent girls who experience anemia in Indonesia reaches 22.7%. According to WHO, if the prevalence of anemia is in the range of 20%–39.9%, it can be said that it is a moderate public health problem[5].

Iron has a function in the formation of hemoglobin, minerals, and enzymes. Iron deficiency in adolescents can cause stunted physical growth, especially for adolescents who attend school. Anemia causes low concentration of thinking, learning disorders occur, and learning achievement decreases[6]. The results showed that the cause of anemia in adolescents was due to irregular eating patterns, not eating protein foods, not liking vegetables, and eating fast food and junk food[7]. In reality, teenagers tend to like junk food and fast food, consuming certain foods so that their bodies do not get a varied nutritional intake. This is what triggers a decrease in red blood cell production, making it easy for anemia to occur[8].

Lack of iron intake in adolescents can be caused by a lack of knowledge of adolescents about food sources of iron and the role of iron in adolescents. Low knowledge of nutrients will have an impact on attitudes and behavior related to iron nutrition in adolescents. Nutrition education can also help youth gain the knowledge and skills they need to make healthy food choices and develop healthy eating patterns for life. Peers are believed to be very influential in the lives of adolescents because peer groups provide a source of independence, identity, recognition, and group membership[9], so that the peer educator approach is expected to convey iron nutrition information and change attitudes and behaviors of their peers to become healthier[10]. Schools are ideal places for nutrition education as they reach a large proportion of young people. In accordance with Beydoun and Wang's statement, in the research of Acharya, Rana, Pun, & Thapa, nutrition education in adolescents will be felt positively and has a very significant impact on nutritional behavior, so nutrition education conducted by peers is important[11].

Methods

The type of research used is a quasi-experimental design using a pretest-posttest control group design. The population of this study were all students of the 19th Senior High School

in Surabaya with criteria of age 15–18 years and willing to be participants. Samples will be taken randomly and divided into three intervention groups (Peer Group, Nutritionist Group, and Combination Group) and one control group. Each group will consist of 30 participants, so the total number of participants in this study is 120.

The research instruments are: 1) Education is obtained by using a questionnaire to determine the level of knowledge of each participant. 2) A guidebook based on literature and focus group discussions with experts 3) 1x24-hour Food Recall Sheet and FFQ 4) The nutritional status variable was obtained from the BMI/U assessment with a z-score >1 SD to 2 SD.

Initial data collection will begin by dividing the groups into 4 groups, namely the Peer Group, Nutritionist Group, Combination Group, and Control Group, and each group has 30 participants. All groups will then perform a pretest, such as answering the questionnaire and measuring BMI. After all groups have taken the pretest, the peer group, nutritionist group, and combination group will receive treatment in the form of a lecture session followed by a discussion. In the peer group, a selected student will be the resource person. This selected student was previously provided with nutrition knowledge by nutritionists. In the nutritionist group, a nutritionist will be the resource person. In the combination group, the previously selected student and the nutritionist will alternately become resource people. Meanwhile, the control group did not receive any treatment. After all groups received treatment, it was time for all groups to do the posttest by answering the questionnaire. Statistical analysis used: This study will use the paired t test

Results

Table 1. Frequency Distribution of Nutritional Status Treatment Groups' Pretest and Posttest

Education	Before			After		
	Thin	Normal	Fat	Thin	Normal	Fat
Peer	7	19	4	14	13	3
<i>Nutritionist</i>	4	21	5	11	16	3
Control	4	23	3	5	21	4
Combination	12	16	2	9	19	2
Total	27	79	14	39	69	12
	120			120		

Based on the table 1, it can be seen that during the pretest, as many as 79 students were in the normal category. Meanwhile, in the post-test, 69 students were in the normal category.

Table 2. The wilcoxon signed rank test, which was used to examine differences in nutritional status and nutritional intake before and after education

Variable	p value
Nutritional Status	0.016
Nutritional Intake	0.088

Based on the table 2, the calculation results show a value of 0.016 ($p < 0.05$) which means that there is a significant difference in adolescent nutritional status between before and after

education. As for nutritional intake, it shows that there is no significant difference between before and after education.

Table 3. the Wilcoxon signed rank test, which was used to examine the effect of nutritional status before and after education.

Group	p value
Peers	0.033
Nutritionist	0.003
Control	1000
Combination	0.317

Based on table 3, the calculation results show a value of 0.033 ($p < 0.05$) in the peer group and a value of 0.003 ($p < 0.05$) in the nutritionist group. This concludes that nutritional status experienced significant differences in the peer group and nutritionist before and after education. Furthermore, there was no significant effect in the control and combination groups.

Table 4. Differences in nutritional status of each group after education

Group	N	Mean Rank	P
Peers	30	50.53	0.039
Nutritionist	30	55.58	
Control	30	63.37	
Combination	30	72.52	

In table 4, it is known that the value is 0.039 ($p < 0.05$) which means that the treatment group is iron intake education. At the time of the posttest, the nutritional status values between groups had differences. If we look more deeply, the combination education group has a different nutritional status between each group, which is then followed by the nutritionist group and the peer group.

Discussion

Nutrition education can significantly improve nutritional status[12]. This begins with increasing nutritional knowledge so that adolescents can choose healthy foods that will improve their nutritional status. One way to increase adolescent knowledge is by providing education or counseling about balanced nutrition. Several studies have concluded that counseling is effective in increasing adolescent knowledge about balanced nutrition[13,14,15].

In the beginning, nutrition education was able to improve nutritional status. The speaker was also one of the factors that could affect the success of nutrition education, one of which was peers. Based on the results above, it can be explained that the education that has the most influence on changes in nutritional status is that conducted by peers and nutritionists. Comprehensive nutrition education also empowers youth's knowledge and skills in making healthy food and beverage choices.

Education conducted by peers is considered the most effective in changing nutritional status. Knowledge can form a supportive attitude and will affect the motivation of adolescents to behave in a healthy manner. Knowledge can be increased by a group learning

process with a peer group[16]. This peer counselor has great potential because of the tendency for adolescents to choose their peers as a place for discussion and information reference. One of the efforts made through peer counselors is to share nutritional knowledge, which is an expression of a state of balance between consumption and absorption of nutrients and the use of these nutrients[17].

The peer education method is effective in promoting healthy behavior in groups because adolescents are more receptive to behavioral examples from their peers. This is in line with research conducted by Astika & Permatasari, that showed peer groups are effective in giving a large influence to the group in knowledge of balanced nutrition[18]. According to Story et al., nutrition education through peers has a higher level of acceptance[9]. This is because peers become the main focus in adolescents, so peer education is like having "peer pressure" in a positive and constructive way. Research by Dargie, Henry, Hailemariam, & Geda, states that well-designed peer education can have an impact on increasing food intake for each individual[19].

In addition to peer education, nutritionist education also helps improve the nutritional status of adolescents. In the nutritionist education group, the students received knowledge about iron intake from experts. This is also in line with research conducted by Pakhri et al., which shows that education carried out provides understanding for students so that they experience changes and increase knowledge in individuals as well as in groups[8]. Students understand the portion of food that teenagers need according to the RDA, as well as proper eating patterns that affect the growth of teenagers.

Research conducted by Raikar et al., also revealed that nutrition education provided by experts using flipchart media can help increase nutritional knowledge. With nutrition education methods provided by experts, teenagers can understand and choose healthy foods for their health now and in the long term[20].

In this study, it was found that the combination method also contributed to the increase in nutritional status. The combination method has been used several times in nutrition education. The study by Rodríguez, evaluated previous research that used a combination method with internet media. A method that brings together peers and nutritionists to discuss nutrition. It was found that the research using the combination method did not have a significant effect on nutritional knowledge. However, this can still be used as a method of providing nutrition education while still considering the duration of a program and session[21].

The findings of this study corroborate that small informal nutritional education sessions can play a role in increasing the knowledge of adolescent, which in turn will help the health system prevent nutritional deficiencies and disorders. Nutritional education provided by peers is proven to be able to have a positive impact on adolescents because peers are the axis of youth association, so that what is shared and learned by peers will be more easily accepted. This study also gives hope that such sessions on a larger scale involving several small groups can help increase basic knowledge related to nutrition in large groups of adolescents.

Conclusion

Nutritional education provided by peers is proven to be able to have a positive impact on adolescents because peers are the axis of youth association, so that what is shared and learned by peers will be more easily accepted.

Ethical considerations:

Ethical issues (Including plagiarism, informed consent, misconduct, data fabrication and/or falsification, double publication and/or submission, redundancy, etc.) have been completely observed by the authors.

Acknowledgements :

.

Declaration of competing interest

The authors declare that they have no known competing financial interests or personal relationships.

Data availability

Data and any supplementary material related to this article can be obtained from the corresponding author on request.

References

1. Rhaisa Do Amaral E Melo G. De Carvalho Silva Vargas F. Martins Dos Santos Chagas C. Toral N. Nutritional interventions for adolescents using information and communication technologies (ICTs): A systematic review. *PLoS One*. 2017;12(9):1–12.
2. Nomate, ES. Nur, ML. Toy, SM. Hubungan Teman Sebaya, Citra Tubuh Dan Pola Konsumsi Dengan Status Gizi Remaja Putri. *Unnes J Public Heal*. 2017;6(3):141.
3. Adriani, M. Wiratjamadi, B. Pengantar Gizi Masyarakat. Jakarta: Kencana Prenada Media Group; 2012.
4. Maryam, S. Gani, FA. Analisis Hubungan Status Gizi Dengan Prestasi Belajar Remaja Putri Pada Sma Negeri 1 Kabupaten Bireuen Staf Pengajar Fakultas Kedokteran Universitas Malikussaleh Email : sitimaryam_ipb@yahoo.com Staf Pengajar Fakultas Ked. *J Edukasi dan Sains Biol*. 2015;IV(1):37–40.
5. McLean, E. Cogswell, M. Egli, I. Wojdyla, D. De Benoist, B. Worldwide prevalence of anaemia, WHO Vitamin and Mineral Nutrition Information System, 1993-2005. *Public Health Nutr*. 2009;12(4):444–54.
6. Lestari, S. Fujiati, II. Martina, SJ. Sari, DK. Panjaitan, SAA. Nasution, NH. A Study of Anemia Prevalence and Dietary Habits among Adolescent Girls in Rural and Urban Area in North Sumatera, Indonesia. 2020;(5):652–6.
7. Chaturvedi, D. Chaudhuri, PK. Priyanka. Chaudhary, AK. Study of correlation between dietary habits and anemia among adolescent girls in Ranchi and its surrounding area. *Int J Contemp Pediatr*. 2017;4(4):1165.
8. Pakhri, A. Sukmawati, S. Nurhasanah, N. Pengaruh Edukasi Gizi Terhadap Pengetahuan Gizi Dan Asupan Energi, Protein Dan Besi Pada Remaja. *Media Kesehat Politek Kesehat Makassar*. 2018;13(1):39.
9. Story, M. Lytle, L. Birnbaum, AS. Perry, CL. Feasibility and Process Evaluation of the TEENS Study. *J Sch Health*. 2002;72:121–7.
10. Jafar, N. Indriasari, R. Syam, A. Kurniati, Y. Pengaruh Pelatihan Edukator Sebaya terhadap Pengetahuan tentang Gizi Seimbang pada Siswa di SMUN 16 Makassar. *Media Gizi Pangan*. 2018;25(1):1.
11. Acharya, A. Rana, PP. Pun BK, Thapa B. Consumption of iron-rich foods among adolescent girls in Nepal: identifying behavioural determinants. *F Exch - Emerg Nutr Netw ENN [Internet]*. 2018;(57):17–9. Available from: <https://www.enonline.net/fex/57/ironadolescentgirlsnepal>
12. Abdur Razzak, M. Mahfuz Al Hasan, S. Shahinur, RS. Asaduzzaman, M. Matin Juliana, F. Sabir Hossain, M. Role of nutrition education in improving the nutritional status of adolescent girls in North West areas of Bangladesh. 2016;(August 2017).
13. Ningsih, THS. Pengaruh Edukasi Pedoman Gizi Seimbang Terhadap Pengetahuan Dan

- Sikap Remaja Putri Kurus. *J Midwifery Sci.* 2018;2(2):10.
14. Safitri, MS. Hubungan Pengetahuan Gizi Terhadap Kejadian Anemia pada Remaja Putri di SMP Negeri 13 Kota Jambi. *J Akad Baiturrahim Jambi.* 2019;8(2):261–6.
 15. Najahah, I. Pengaruh Penyuluhan Gizi Seimbang Pada Remaja Putri Terhadap Tingkat Pengetahuan Remaja Putri Di Pondok Pesantren Islam Nw Penimbung. *Media Bina Ilm.* 2018;12(10).
 16. Aisah, S. Sahar, J. Hastono, SP. Pengaruh Edukasi Kelompok Sebaya terhadap Perubahan Perilaku Pencegahan Anemia Gizi Besi pada Wanita Usia Subur di Kota Semarang. *Pros Semin Nas [Internet].* 2010;119–27. Available from: <http://jurnal.unimus.ac.id>
 17. Supriasa, IDN. *Penilaian Status Gizi.* Jakarta: EGC; 2016.
 18. Astika, T. Permatasari, E. Peningkatan Pengetahuan dan Perilaku Gizi Seimbang menggunakan Metode Peer Education. *Kes Mas J Fak Kesehat Masy.* 2017;11(2):114–20.
 19. Dargie, F. Henry, CJ. Hailemariam, H. Geda, NR. A Peer-Led Pulse-based Nutrition Education Intervention Improved School-Aged Children’s Knowledge, Attitude, Practice (KAP) and Nutritional Status in Southern Ethiopia. *J Food Res.* 2018;7(3):38.
 20. Raikar, K. Thakur, A. Mangal, A. Vaghela, JF. Banerjee, S. Gupta, V. A study to assess the effectiveness of a nutrition education session using flipchart among school- going adolescent girls. 2020;9:1–7.
 21. Domínguez, RA. Cebolla Marti, AJ. Oliver-Gasch, E. Baños-Rivera, RM. Online platforms to teach Nutrition Education of children: a non-systematic review. *Nutr Hosp.* 2016;33(6):1444–51.

[OAMJMS] Regular Publication Fee

×Close Panel

Participants

- Mirko Zhivko Spiroski (mspiroski)
- Katerina Spiroska (kspiroska)
- Irine

Messages

Note

Dear Irine,

From

kspiroska

2022-04-05 12:53 AM

Please find details for your Regular Publication Fee of 400 € (EUR) for the manuscript "Nutritional Intake Education By Peers, Nutritionists, And Combinations To Changes In Nutritional Status In Adolescent Girl In School" [oamjms.2022.8960], which should be prepared for publication in Open Access Maced J Med Sci (OAMJMS) and should be transferred in the next seven days.

If you intend to cancel your publication, please, send me information.

You can transfer Regular Publication Fee:

- online with the Visa credit card by the following link: <https://oamjms.eu/index.php/mjms/pubfees>
- or transfer Regular Publication Fee by the bank account:

Beneficiary: Scientific Foundation SPIROSKI, Rajko Zhinzifov No 48, Skopje, Republic of Macedonia.

IBAN CODE: MK07210722000034890, VAT

Number: 4030004519877

Beneficiary's Bank: NLB BANKA AD SKOPJE,

SWIFT code = TUTNMK22, Address = Mother

Teresa 1, Country = Macedonia

Details: DOI = OAMJMS.2022.8960

Please, note that enclosed invoice and online transfer are different accounts, but both are legitimate!

Please, include your document of the transfer on the website.

Note

From

Cordially,
Prof. Dr Mirko Spiroski

[Settings](#)

DEAR EDITORS
I SEND PROOF OF PAYMENT
THANK YOU
SUPARJI
[pay-oamjms-IRINE-20220407.pdf](#)

Dear corresponding author,

Thank you very much for your transfer of the
Publication Fee. Your manuscript was sent for
preparation of Galley Proof and you will receive it
very soon.

Best regards,
Prof. Dr Mirko Spiroski

[Add Message](#)


suparji
2022-04-06 10:14 PM

mspiroski
2022-04-09 01:09 AM

ID

OAMJMS Online Payment

Order number: 3WC-VENAVXQ-HH5G70T**Your order**

ITEM NAME	PRICE	QUANTITY	SUBTOTAL
 Regular Publication Fee Publication Fee for regular manuscripts (equivalent to 400 € - EUR)	24800 ден	1	24800 ден

SummarySUBTOTAL PRICE: **24800 ден****TOTAL: 24800 ден****Billing information**

Full name: HERU SANTOSO WAHITO NUGROHO

Email: heruswn@gmail.com

Address: Jl. Cemara 25, Dare, Sukorejo, Ponorogo, Jawa Timur

Country: Indonesia

Order notes

"Nutritional Intake Education By Peers, Nutritionists, And Combinations To Changes In Nutritional Status In Adolescent Girl In School" ----- [oamjms.2022.8960]

Copyright Form

Manuscript Number: oamjms.2022.8960

This Agreement is made with *Open Access Macedonian Journal of Medical Sciences (OAMJMS)*. The Agreement is for the Article submitted by you ("Author") for publication *Open Access Macedonian Journal of Medical Sciences (OAMJMS)*. To enable publishing the Article in *Open Access Macedonian Journal of Medical Sciences (OAMJMS)* ("the Journal"), the ownership of copyright must be established. Please read and complete the form below (Section A plus Section B) and return one copy to the address given below. There are explanatory notes to this Agreement, which also form part of the Agreement.

The Article cannot be published until this signed Agreement is received by OAMJMS.

SECTION A: Author's Warranty (Please print your details)

Name:

Irine Christiany1 *

Address:

Department of Nursing, Politeknik Kesehatan Kementerian Kesehatan Surabaya, Indonesia;
 2Department of Midwifery, Politeknik Kesehatan Kementerian Kesehatan Surabaya,
 Indonesia.....

Article title:


Nutritional Intake Education by Peers, Nutritionists, and Combinations to Changes in Nutritional Status in Adolescent Girl in School

Names of all authors in the order in which they appear in the Article:

Irine Christiany1 *, Adin Mu'afiro1 , Kiaonarni Ongko Waluyo1 , Suparji Suparji2.....


In consideration of the publication of the Article in the above Journal, I hereby warrant and undertake:

- that this Article is an original work, has not been published before and is not being considered for publication elsewhere in its final form either in printed or electronic form.
- that I have obtained permission from the copyright holder to reproduce in the Article (in all media including print and electronic form) material not owned by me, and that I have acknowledged the source;
- that this Article contains no violation of any existing copyright or other third party right or any material of an obscene, indecent or otherwise unlawful nature and that to the best of my knowledge this Article does not infringe the rights of others;
- that I will indemnify and keep indemnified the Editors, Open Access Macedonian Journal of Medical Sciences against all claims and expenses (including legal costs and expenses) arising from any breach of this warranty and the other warranties on my behalf in this Agreement;
- that in the case of a multi-authored Article I have obtained copyright assignment from all co-authors, in writing, and authorization to enter into this Agreement on their behalf and that all co-authors have read and agreed the above warranties;

Author: Signed:  Date: . May, 18, 2022.....

SECTION B: Copyright Assignment

This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author and source are credited. Notwithstanding the above, I retain all proprietary rights other than copyright, such as patent and trade mark rights and rights to any process or procedure described in the Article.

Author: Signed:  Date: May, 18, 2022.....

In signing this form, the signee asserts that any authors not signing have authorised the signee to do so on their behalf, and that the manuscript submitted has been approved by these authors in the form in which it has been submitted, and that the warranties given above have been read and agreed by all authors.



Nutritional Intake Education by Peers, Nutritionists, and Combinations to Changes in Nutritional Status in Adolescent Girl in School

Irine Christiany^{1*}, Adin Mu'afiro¹, Kiaonarni Ongko Waluyo¹, Suparji Suparji²

¹Department of Nursing, Politeknik Kesehatan Kementerian Kesehatan Surabaya, Indonesia; ²Department of Midwifery, Politeknik Kesehatan Kementerian Kesehatan Surabaya, Indonesia

Abstract

Edited by: <https://publons.com/researcher/391987/mirko-spiroski>
Citation: Christiany I, Mu'afiro A, Waluyo KO, Suparji S. Nutritional Intake Education by Peers, Nutritionists, and Combinations to Changes in Nutritional Status in Adolescent Girl in School. Open-Access Maced J Med Sci. 2022 Feb 05; 10(A):1-5. <https://doi.org/10.3889/oamjms.2022.8960>

Keywords: Nutritional intake; Nutritional education; Peers; Nutritional status; Adolescent

*Correspondence: Irine Christiany, Department of Nursing, Politeknik Kesehatan Kementerian Kesehatan Surabaya, Indonesia. E-mail: irinesby64@gmail.com

Received: ???
Revised: ???
Accepted: ???

Copyright: © 2022 Irine Christiany, Adin Mu'afiro, Kiaonarni Ongko Waluyo, Suparji Suparji

Funding: This research did not receive any financial support.

Competing Interest: The authors have declared that no competing interest exists.

Open Access: This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial 4.0 International License (CC BY-NC 4.0)

BACKGROUND: Adolescents are very concerned about their physical form and often form their own body image. Low nutritional knowledge will have an impact on attitudes and behaviors related to nutritional status in adolescents. Nutrition education can also help adolescents acquire adolescent knowledge. Peers are believed to be very influential as educators, so peer nutrition education in adolescents will be felt positively and have a very significant impact on nutritional status.

OBJECTIVE: This study was to determine the effect of peer nutrition education, nutrition, and a combination on the nutritional status of adolescents.

METHODS AND MATERIALS: This study used a quasi-experimental design using a pretest-posttest control group design. The research location was at SMA 19 Surabaya City in March–October 2019. The sample consisted of 120 students with an age range of 15–18 years, selected by random sampling. Nutrition education is provided through lectures and discussions by peers, nutritionists, or a combination of both during 1 meeting a week. Statistical analysis used: Paired t-test.

RESULTS: The results showed that nutrition education delivered by peers had $p = 0.033$ and nutritional education delivered by nutritionists had a value of 0.003, but there was no significant effect on adolescent nutritional status when the nutritional education provided was combined with a value of 0.317. Nutrition education provided by peers is very useful for improving the nutritional status of adolescents.

CONCLUSION: Nutrition education provided by peers is proven to be able to have a positive impact on adolescents because peers are the axis of youth association so that what is shared and learned by peers will be more easily accepted.

Introduction

Adolescence is a period in the life of every individual, where they are very concerned about their physical appearance. The rapid physical growth and development, both in height and weight, that occurs during adolescence is accompanied by the development of reproductive potential. This is why teenagers pay so much attention to their physical shape and often build their own body image. When compared to young men, young women are more likely to suffer from this disease. According to Melo, because of psychological, physiological, and social changes, the adolescent phase is sensitive to dietary disorders. Peer pressure is another element that leads to a distorted perception of body form in adolescent, which has an impact on eating habit aberrations [1]. Nomate *et al.* research showed that 33.2% of respondents revealed that they often received criticism about their weight from their peers [2]. Weight loss was also mostly done by respondents who received influence from peers, which was 49.1% compared to

respondents who did not get influence from peers. At this age, there is a double nutritional problem: Some of the teenagers are malnourished, but some of them are obese. Adolescents who experience a body mass index (BMI) < 18.5 in Indonesia are 8.7%, while those who are more than the normal limit are 16%. The tendency of this nutritional problem is different in each province. In East Java Province, adolescents who have a BMI greater than the normal limit are 19.3%. Almost one-fifth of adolescents in East Java Province have a BMI that is higher than normal or is overweight and obese [2]. Fulfillment of nutrition during adolescence is important because adolescents are the future of the nation in the creation of a better future generation [3].

In addition, the nutritional status of adolescents has a positive relationship with learning achievement [4]. The efforts of young women to reduce food intake in order to get a thin and slim body. Adolescence is a vulnerable condition in the process of development and growth so that it can cause several health problems [4]. Anemia is a health problem that is often experienced by young women. The incidence of

anemia in Indonesia is still quite high [3]. According to the WHO, if the prevalence of anemia is in the range of 20–39.9%, it can be said to be a public health problem in the moderate category [5].

Iron has a function in the formation of hemoglobin, minerals, and enzymes. Iron deficiency in adolescents can cause stunted physical growth, especially for adolescents who attend school. Anemia causes low concentration of thinking, learning disorders occur, and learning achievement decreases [6]. The results showed that the cause of anemia in adolescents was due to irregular eating patterns, not eating protein foods, not liking vegetables, and eating fast food and junk food [7]. In reality, teenagers tend to like junk food and fast food, consuming certain foods so that their bodies do not get a varied nutritional intake. This is what triggers a decrease in red blood cell production, making it easy for anemia to occur [8].

Lack of iron intake in adolescents can be caused by a lack of knowledge of adolescents about food sources of iron and the role of iron in adolescents. Low knowledge of nutrients will have an impact on attitudes and behavior related to iron nutrition in adolescents. Nutrition education can also help youth gain the knowledge and skills; they need to make healthy food choices and develop healthy eating patterns for life. Peers are believed to be very influential in the lives of adolescents because peer groups provide a source of independence, identity, recognition, and group membership [9] so that the peer educator approach is expected to convey iron nutrition information and change attitudes and behaviors of their peers to become healthier [10]. Schools are ideal places for nutrition education as they reach a large proportion of young people. In accordance with Beydoun and Wang's statement, nutrition education for adolescents will be felt positively and have a very significant impact on nutritional behavior so that nutrition education conducted by peers is important [11].

Methods

The type of research used is a quasi-experimental design using a pretest-posttest control group design. The population of this study were all students of the 19th senior high school in Surabaya with criteria of age 15–18 years and willing to be participants. Samples will be taken randomly and divided into three intervention groups (peer group, nutritionist group, and combination group) and one control group. Each group will consist of 30 participants, so the total number of participants in this study was 120.

The research instruments are: (1) Education is obtained using a test questionnaire to determine the level of knowledge of the participants, (2) guide book

based on literature and FGD with experts, (3) food recall sheet and FFQ observation sheet 1×24 h, and (4) nutritional status assessment table based on BMI/U.

Initial data collection will begin by dividing the groups into four groups, namely, the peer group, nutritionist group, combination group, and control group, and each group has 30 participants. All groups will then perform a pretest, such as answering the questionnaire and measuring BMI. After all groups have taken the pretest, the peer group, nutritionist group, and combination group will receive treatment in the form of a lecture session followed by a discussion. In the peer group, a selected student will be the resource person. This selected student was previously provided with nutrition knowledge by nutritionists. In the nutritionist group, a nutritionist will be the resource person. In the combination group, the previously selected student and the nutritionist will alternately become resource people. Meanwhile, the control group did not receive any treatment. After all groups received treatment, it was time for all groups to do the posttest by answering the questionnaire. Statistical analysis used: This study will use the paired t-test

Results

The results of the study are presented as follows:

Based on Table 1, it can be seen that during the pre-test, as many as 79 students were in the normal category. Meanwhile, in the post-test, 69 students were in the normal category.

Table 1: Frequency distribution of nutritional status treatment groups' pre-test and post-test

Education	Before			After		
	Thin	Normal	Fat	Thin	Normal	Fat
Peer	7	19	4	14	13	3
Nutritionist	4	21	5	11	16	3
Control	4	23	3	5	21	4
Combination	12	16	2	9	19	2
Total	27	79	14	39	69	12
	120			120		

Based on Table 2, the calculation results show a value of 0.016 ($p < 0.05$) which means that there is a significant difference in adolescent nutritional status between before and after education. As for nutritional intake, it shows that there is no significant difference between before and after education.

Table 2: The Wilcoxon signed-rank test, which was used to examine differences in nutritional status and nutritional intake before and after education

Variable	p value
Nutritional status	0.016
Nutritional intake	0.088

Based on Table 3, the calculation results show a value of 0.033 ($p < 0.05$) in the peer group and a



Table 3: The Wilcoxon signed-rank test, which was used to examine the effect of nutritional status before and after education

Group	p value
Peers	0.033
Nutritionist	0.003
Control	100
Combination	0.317

value of 0.003 ($p < 0.05$) in the nutritionist group. This concludes that nutritional status experienced significant differences in the peer group and nutritionist before and after education. Furthermore, there was no significant effect in the control and combination groups.

In Table 4, it is known that the value is 0.039 ($p < 0.05$) which means that the treatment group is iron intake education. At the time of the posttest, the nutritional status values between groups had differences. The conclusion of these results, the combination education group has a different nutritional status between each group, which is then followed by a group of nutritionists and peer groups.

Table 4: Differences in nutritional status of each group after education

Group	N	Mean rank	p
Peers	30	50.53	0.039
Nutritionist	30	55.58	
Control	30	63.37	
Combination	30	72.52	

Discussion

Nutrition education can significantly improve nutritional status [12]. This begins with increasing nutritional knowledge so that adolescents can choose healthy foods that will improve their nutritional status. One way to increase adolescent knowledge is by providing education or counseling about balanced nutrition. Several studies have concluded that counseling is effective in increasing adolescent knowledge about balanced nutrition [13], [14], [15].

In the beginning, nutrition education was able to improve nutritional status. The speaker was also one of the factors that could affect the success of nutrition education, one of which was peers. Based on the results above, it can be explained that the education that has the most influence on changes in nutritional status is that conducted by peers and nutritionists. Comprehensive nutrition education also empowers youth's knowledge and skills in making healthy food and beverage choices.

Education conducted by peers is considered the most effective in changing nutritional status. Knowledge can form a supportive attitude and will affect the motivation of adolescents to behave in a healthy manner. Knowledge can be increased by a group learning process with a peer group [16]. This

peer counselor has great potential because of the tendency for adolescents to choose their peers as a place for discussion and information reference. One of the efforts made through peer counselors is to share nutritional knowledge, which is an expression of a state of balance between consumption and absorption of nutrients and the use of these nutrients [17].

The peer education method is effective in promoting healthy behavior in groups because adolescents are more receptive to behavioral examples from their peers. This is in line with research conducted by Astika and Permatasari who showed that peer groups are effective in giving a large influence to the group in knowledge of balanced nutrition [18]. According to Story *et al.*, nutrition education through peers has a higher level of acceptance [9]. This is because peers become the main focus in adolescents, so peer education is like having "peer pressure" in a positive and constructive way. Research by Dargie *et al.* states that well-designed peer education can have an impact on increasing food intake for each individual [19].

In addition to peer education, nutritionist education also helps improve the nutritional status of adolescents. In the nutritionist education group, the students received knowledge about iron intake from experts. This is also in line with research conducted by Pakhri *et al.*, which shows that education carried out provides understanding for students so that they experience changes and increase knowledge in individuals as well as in groups [8]. Students understand the portion of food that teenagers need according to the RDA, as well as proper eating patterns that affect the growth of teenagers.

Research conducted by Raikar *et al.*, also revealed that nutrition education provided by experts using flipchart media can help increase nutritional knowledge. With nutrition education methods provided by experts, teenagers can understand and choose healthy foods for their health now and in the long term [20].

In this study, it was found that the combination method also contributed to the increase in nutritional status. The combination method has been used several times in nutrition education. The study by Rodríguez evaluated previous research that used a combination method with internet media. A method brings together peers and nutritionists to discuss nutrition. It was found that the research using the combination method did not have a significant effect on nutritional knowledge. However, this can still be used as a method of providing nutrition education while still considering the duration of a program and session [21].

The findings of this study confirm that small informal nutrition education sessions can play a role in increasing youth knowledge, which, in turn, will

help the health prevent malnutritional deficiencies and disorders. Nutritional education provided by peers is proven to be able to have a positive impact on adolescents because peers are the axis of youth association so that what is shared and learned by peers will be more easily accepted. This study also gives hope that such sessions on a larger scale involving several small groups can help increase basic knowledge related to nutrition in large groups of adolescents.

Conclusion

Nutritional education provided by peers is proven to be able to have a positive impact on adolescents because peers are the axis of youth association so that what is shared and learned by peers will be more easily accepted.

Ethical Considerations

Ethical issues (including plagiarism, informed consent, misconduct, data fabrication and/or falsification, double publication and/or submission, redundancy, etc.) have been completely observed by the authors.

Acknowledgments

???

Declaration of Competing Interest

The authors declare that they have no known competing financial interests or personal relationships.

Data Availability

Data and any supplementary material related to this article can be obtained from the corresponding author on request.

References

- Melo GR, Vargas FC, Chagas CM, Toral N. Nutritional interventions for adolescents using information and communication technologies (ICTs): A systematic review. *PLoS One*. 2017;12(9):0184509. <https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0184509>
PMid:28961248
- Nomate ES, Nur ML, Toy SM. Hubungan teman sebaya, citra tubuh dan pola konsumsi dengan status gizi remaja putri. *Unnes J Public Health*. 2017;6(3):141. <https://doi.org/10.15294/ujph.v6i3.17016>
- Adriani M, Wiratjamadi B. *Pengantar Gizi Masyarakat*. Jakarta: Kencana Prenada Media Group; 2012.
- Maryam S, Gani FA. Analisis hubungan status gizi dengan prestasi belajar remaja putri pada SMA negeri 1 kabupaten bireuen. *Ked. J Eduk Sains Biol*. 2015;4(1):37-40. <https://doi.org/10.32315/ti.6.i039>
- McLean E, Cogswell M, Egli I, Wojdyla D, De Benoist B. Worldwide prevalence of anaemia, WHO vitamin and mineral nutrition information system, 1993-2005. *Public Health Nutr*. 2009;12(4):444-54. <https://doi.org/10.1017/s1368980008002401>
PMid:18498676
- Lestari S, Fujiati II, Martina SJ, Sari DK, Panjaitan SA, Nasution NH. A study of anemia prevalence and dietary habits among adolescent girls in rural and urban area in North Sumatera, Indonesia. *???*. 2020;(5):652-6. <https://doi.org/10.5220/0010082906520656>
- Chaturvedi D, Chaudhuri PK, Priyanka, Chaudhary AK. Study of correlation between dietary habits and anemia among adolescent girls in Ranchi and its surrounding area. *Int J Contemp Pediatr*. 2017;4(4):1165. <https://doi.org/10.18203/2349-3291.ijcp20172022>
- Pakhri A, Sukmawati S, Nurhasanah N. Pengaruh edukasi gizi terhadap pengetahuan gizi dan asupan energi, protein dan besi pada remaja. *Media Kesehatan Politeknik Kesehatan Makassar*. 2018;13(1):39. <https://doi.org/10.32382/medkes.v13i1.97>
- Story M, Lytle LA, Birnbaum AS, Perry CL. Feasibility and process evaluation of the TEENS Study. *J Sch Health*. 2002;72:121-7. <https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1746-1561.2002.tb06529.x>
- Jafar N, Indriasari R, Syam A, Kurniati Y. Pengaruh pelatihan edukator sebaya terhadap pengetahuan tentang gizi seimbang pada siswa di SMUN 16 Makassar. *Media Gizi Pangan*. 2018;25(1):1. <https://doi.org/10.32382/mgp.v25i1.40>
- Acharya A, Rana PP, Pun BK, Thapa B. Consumption of iron-rich foods among adolescent girls in Nepal: Identifying behavioural determinants. *Field Exchange*. 2018;(57):17-9.
- Abdur Razzak M, Al Hasan SM, Rahman SS, Asaduzzaman M, Juliana FM, Hossain MS. Role of nutrition education in improving the nutritional status of adolescent girls in North West areas of Bangladesh. *Int J Sci Eng Res*. 2016;7(11):1340-6.
- Ningsih TH. Pengaruh edukasi pedoman gizi seimbang terhadap pengetahuan dan sikap remaja putri kurus. *J Midwifery Sci*. 2018;2(2):10. <https://doi.org/10.32382/mgp.v26i2.1028>
- Safitri S, Maharani S. Hubungan pengetahuan gizi terhadap kejadian anemia pada remaja putri di SMP negeri 13 kota jambi. *J Akad Baiturrahim Jambi*. 2019;8(2):261-6. <https://doi.org/10.36565/jab.v8i2.166>
- Najahah I. Pengaruh penyuluhan gizi seimbang pada remaja putri terhadap tingkat pengetahuan remaja putri di pondok pesantren islam Nw Penimbung. *Media Bina IIm*. 2018;12(10):79. <https://doi.org/10.21111/dnj.v2i2.2437>
- Aisah S, Sahar J, Priyo HS. Pengaruh edukasi kelompok sebaya terhadap perubahan perilaku pencegahan anemia



gizi besi pada wanita usia subur di kota semarang. *Pros Semin Nas.* 2010;???:119-27. <https://doi.org/10.14710/jnc.v10i1.29271>



17. Supariasa ID. *Penilaian Status Gizi.* Jakarta: EGC; 2016.
18. Astika T, Permatasari E. Peningkatan pengetahuan dan perilaku gizi seimbang menggunakan metode peer education. *Kes Mas J Fak Kesehat Masy.* 2017;11(2):114-20.
19. Dargie F, Henry CJ, Hailemariam H, Geda NR. A peer-led pulse-based nutrition education intervention improved school-aged children's knowledge, attitude, practice (KAP) and nutritional status in Southern Ethiopia. *J Food Res.* 2018;7(3):38. <https://doi.org/10.5539/jfr.v7n3p38>
20. Raikar K, Thakur A, Mangal A, Vaghela JF, Banerjee S, Gupta V. A study to assess the effectiveness of a nutrition education session using flipchart among schoolgoing adolescent girls. 2020;9:1-7. https://doi.org/10.4103/jehp.jehp_258_18
21. Domínguez Rodríguez A, Cebolla Marti AJ, Oliver-Gasch E, Baños-Rivera RM. Online platforms to teach nutrition education to children: A non-systematic review. *Nutr Hosp.* 2016;33(6):1444-51. <https://doi.org/10.20960/nh.808>

Author Queries???

- AQ1: Kindly provide running title
AQ2: Kindly provide history details
AQ3: Kindly review the sentence as it seems to be incomplete.
AQ4: Kindly provide text part
AQ5: Kindly provide in English language
AQ6: Kindly provide journal name
AQ7: Kindly provide the volume number

Galley Proof